

## Zane Lucāne ORCID 0000-0002-5356-2037

## SARS-Cov-2 Vaccination in Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvia: Immune Response and Reasons for Refusal of Recommended Vaccination

Summary of the Doctoral Thesis for obtaining the scientific degree "Doctor of Science (*PhD*)"

Sector Group – Medical and Health Sciences

Sector – Basic Medicine

Sub-Sector – Immunology

The Doctoral Thesis was developed at Rīga Stradiņš University, Department of Biology and Microbiology, Latvia

Supervisor of the Doctoral Thesis:

*Dr. med.*, Professor **Nataļja Kurjāne**, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

#### Scientific Advisor:

*Dr. med.*, **Linda Gailīte**, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

#### Official Reviewers:

*Dr. med.*, Professor **Dace Zavadska**, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

*Dr. med.*, Professor Laura Malinauskiene, Vilnius University, Lithuania

Dr. med., Krista Ress,

East Tallinn Central Hospital, Estonia

Defence of the Doctoral Thesis will take place at the public session of the Promotion Council of Basic Medicine on 4 December 2025 at 13.00 in the 2nd Auditorium, 16 Dzirciema Street, Rīga Stradiņš University.

The Doctoral Thesis is available in RSU Library and on RSU website: https://www.rsu.lv/en/dissertations



The study was conducted with the support of project No. 8. 2. 2. 0/20/I/004 "Support for the Involvement of Doctoral Students in Scientific Research and Study Work"



This work was supported by the Latvian Council of Science, project No. lzp-2020/1-0269, "Fundamental and Applied Research Project"



The Doctoral Thesis was carried out with the support of the Doctoral Studies Grant from Rīga Stradinš University.

## Secretary of the Promotion Council:

Dr. med., Associate Professor Ingus Skadiņš

## **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations used in the Thesis	4
Introduction	5
Aim of the Thesis	
Tasks of the Thesis	
Hypotheses of the Thesis	
Novelty of the Thesis	
•	
Discussion	
1 Prevalence of Inborn Errors of Immunity in	
Latvian Population	
2 Immunological Response of PAD Patients	
the SARS-CoV-2 Antigen	
2.1 Humoral Response	14
2.2 T-cell response	19
3 Cytokine Secretion Profile of PAD Patient	
after SARS-CoV-2 Antigen Stimulation	
4 Reasons for Refusal of Recommended	
SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination	27
4.1 Fear and Uncertainty	
4.2 Risk and Benefit Assessment	
4.3 External Influences	
4.4 Distrust and Unwillingness to Compl	
"Individual vs. System"	
4.5 Personal Beliefs about Vaccination at	nd COVID-1930
Conclusions	33
Proposals	34
List of publications, reports and patents on the top	
References	
Acknowledgements	55

#### Abbreviations used in the Thesis

BAFF B-cell activating factor

CD Cluster of Differentiation

COVID-19 Coronavirus Disease 2019

CXCL13 CXC Motif Chemokine Ligand 13

ESID European Society for Immunodeficiencies

ICOS Inducible Co-Stimulator

Ig Immunoglobulin

IGRA Interferon-γ Release Assay

IEI Inborn Errors of Immunity

IL Interleukin

IFN Interferon

mRNA Messenger Ribonucleic Acid

NFKB2 Nuclear Factor Kappa B Subunit 2

NK Natural killer cells

NRAS Neuroblastoma RAS Viral Oncogene Homolog

PAD Predominantly Antibody Deficiency

CVID Common Variable Immunodeficiency

SARS-CoV-2 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2

SIgAD Selective IgA Deficiency

SCID Severe Combined Immunodeficiency

SMAD7 Drosophila protein Mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 7

TGF-β1 Tumour Growth Factor β1

TFH T Follicular Helper

TFR T Follicular Regulatory cell

TNF- $\alpha$  Tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$ 

Treg Regulatory T cell

#### Introduction

Inborn errors of immunity (IEI) are a heterogeneous group of rare diseases characterised by immune dysregulation (Bousfiha et al., 2020). Clinically, these conditions manifest through recurrent or unusual infections, autoimmunity, autoinflammatory syndromes, atopy, and/or malignancies (Poli et al., 2025). The diagnosis of IEI is based on clinical and laboratory criteria, as well as genetic testing results (Costagliola & Consolini, 2023). Treatment depends on the specific diagnosis and the severity of the immune defect and may include allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, immunoglobulin replacement therapy, biological agents, prophylactic antibiotic use, other infection prevention strategies including vaccination, and management of complications (Fevang, 2023; Hanitsch et al., 2020). Vaccination is considered one of the most effective means of infection prevention. Vaccines are believed to work by inducing pathogen-specific immune responses that result in the production of protective antibodies and memory immune cells (Shoja Doost et al., 2024). However, in some types of IEI, this mechanism may be defective (Paris, 2023; Tangye et al., 2022).

The most common form of IEI in which vaccine-induced immune responses may be impaired is predominantly antibody deficiencies (PAD) (Poli et al., 2025). The most frequent PAD types are selective IgA deficiency (SIgAD) and common variable immunodeficiency (CVID). These disorders are clinically characterised by increased susceptibility to infections and non-infectious complications associated with immune dysregulation (Edwards et al., 2019). Both are associated with B-cell defects or functional impairments in other immune cell lineages, leading to reduced immunoglobulin production (Bagheri et al., 2023; Milito et al., 2021). In addition to low immunoglobulin levels common to all PAD patients, CVID diagnostic criteria also include impaired vaccine responses and/or reduced switched memory B-cell counts, indicating dysfunction of germinal centres in secondary lymphoid organs (Seidel et al.,

2019). Germinal centres are critical sites for class-switch recombination, somatic hypermutation, and antibody affinity maturation. In patients with CVID, these centres may be dysfunctional and disorganised (Schouwenburg van et al., 2022).

Several mechanisms may contribute to germinal centre dysfunction, including chronic infection, overexpression of the transcription factor T-bet, increased formation of CD21low memory B cells, CXCL13 dysregulation (a B cell chemoattractant), and impaired function of follicular helper T cells (TFH) and follicular regulatory T cells (TFR) (Gupta et al., 2022; Romberg et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2022). TFH cells, through secretion of interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-21, play a key role in the differentiation of B cells into antibody-producing plasma cells and memory B cells in germinal centre reactions (Baumjohann & Fazilleau, 2021), while TFR cells regulate TFH activity by controlling the immune synapse between B cells and TFH. Dysfunction of these cell types may also contribute to autoimmunity (Gupta et al., 2024; Padron & Hernandez-Trujillo, 2023).

B cell dysfunction may also affect T cell responses in PAD patients, as B cells can act as antigen-presenting cells and participate in T cell activation (Apostolidis et al., 2021). In addition to B cell impairment, PAD may involve disrupted coordination and regulation of the immune response, including defects in T cell signalling pathways and dysfunction of innate immune cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and innate lymphoid cells. Dysregulation may also occur in the microenvironment of primary or secondary lymphoid organs (Fernando et al., 2021; Ho & Cunningham-Rundles, 2020; Le Saos-Patrinos et al., 2020; Martelius et al., 2023). These cellular dysregulations are reflected in altered cytokine profiles (Polito et al., 2019; Poto et al., 2023; Rodríguez-Ubreva et al., 2024). However, many aspects of PAD pathogenesis, particularly regarding non-infectious complications, remain unknown. Since the most common PAD types usually manifest in adulthood, one

of the hypothesised environmental factors that may influence disease onset and complications is impaired immune response to antigens, including viral antigens (Al-Hakim et al., 2024; Ameratunga et al., 2023; Strohmeier et al., 2023).

At the end of 2019, a novel virus – severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) – was identified in China, causing pneumonia and rapidly spreading to pandemic levels (Zhou et al., 2020). The exposure of patients to SARS-CoV-2 antigen provided an opportunity to study how immune defects in PAD and other IEI patients influence the response to this novel pathogen (Quinti et al., 2022; Rodríguez-Ubreva et al., 2024).

Despite recommendations from relevant authorities that IEI patients should receive SARS-CoV-2 vaccination (ESID, 2022), some individuals with IEI declined the recommended vaccination. It is important to identify the most common concerns among these patients in order to address misconceptions and ensure that patients receive necessary immunization. Even in cases where protective antibody levels are not achieved, the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine may still be beneficial, as memory T cells can aid in infection control (Amodio et al., 2021). The role of T cells in COVID-19 protection is supported by evidence showing that patients with severe disease often lack virus-specific T cells, while those with milder illness typically exhibit early induction of functional SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells. Furthermore, asymptomatic individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 may mount T cell responses in the absence of a detectable humoral response (Sahin et al., 2021; Sekine et al., 2020; Sette & Crotty, 2021; Tan et al., 2021).

This Doctoral Thesis consists of three main parts:

- 1 An analysis of IEI prevalence in the Latvian population (Prokofjeva et al., 2022);
- 2 Evaluation of SARS-CoV-2-specific immune responses in patients with PAD (Lucane, Slisere, Gersone, et al., 2023; Lucane, Slisere, Ozola, et al., 2023);

3 An analysis of the factors contributing to the refusal of recommended SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among patients with IEI (Lucane, Kursite, et al., 2023).

#### Aim of the Thesis

To describe the prevalence of inborn errors of immunity (IEI) in the Latvian population, to evaluate SARS-CoV-2 antigen-specific humoral and T-cell immune responses and their association with disease phenotype and severity in patients with predominantly antibody deficiencies (PAD), as well as to identify factors influencing the refusal of recommended SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among patients with IEI in Latvia.

#### Tasks of the Thesis

- 1 To collect and analyse data on patients with inborn errors of immunity (IEI) to determine their prevalence in the Latvian population.
- 2 To assess SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell and antibody-mediated immune responses in the study group (CVID and SIgAD patients) and the control group; to evaluate differences between the groups and examine associations between SARS-CoV-2-specific immune responses and disease phenotype/severity in the study group.
- 3 To assess cytokine level changes following SARS-CoV-2 antigen stimulation in the study group (CVID and SIgAD patients) and the control group; to compare intergroup differences and assess the associations between cytokine levels and disease phenotype/severity in the study group.
- 4 To investigate the reasons for refusal of recommended SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among patients with IEI.

#### **Hypotheses of the Thesis**

- 1 Patients with CVID exhibit lower SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody levels, whereas their T-cell responses are comparable to those observed in SIgAD patients and healthy controls, while the cytokine secretion profile elicited by SARS-CoV-2 antigen stimulation differs between the groups and correlates with disease phenotype and severity.
- 2 In addition to the factors influencing vaccine refusal in the general population, patients with IEI express specific concerns related to their underlying condition and its treatment.

#### **Novelty of the Thesis**

The study initially focused on determining the prevalence of inborn errors of immunity (IEI) in the Latvian population. This was the first investigation to report prevalence estimates of IEI in Latvia. From the overall cohort of IEI patients, individuals with predominantly antibody deficiencies (PAD) were selected for the subsequent phases of the study. PAD represents a specific group of IEI characterised by impaired vaccine-induced immune responses and a high frequency of non-infectious complications.

In studies on SARS-CoV-2-specific immune memory in PAD patients, antibody levels have most commonly been used as surrogate markers (Abo-Helo et al., 2021; Bergman et al., 2021; Delmonte et al., 2021; Ponsford et al., 2022), whereas data on SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell memory are limited. Notably, to date, no study has specifically analysed cellular immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 antigen in patients with selective IgA deficiency (SIgAD).

Given that environmental factors – including antigen exposure – may influence both PAD development and the onset of non-infectious complications (Rodríguez-Ubreva et al., 2024), exploring immune response differences to SARS-CoV-2 antigen in PAD patients may provide novel insights into disease

pathogenesis. Since cytokines play a key role in T cell survival and differentiation, characterization of cytokine secretion may reveal functionally relevant differences with clinical significance (Abyazi et al., 2022). Only a few studies have explored associations between clinical phenotypes and immunological parameters (e. g. immunoglobulin levels, T and B cell subpopulations, baseline cytokine concentrations) with immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 antigen. Moreover, most studies evaluating T cell responses to SARS-CoV-2 antigen have focused on IL-2 and/or IFN-γ secretion (Hagin et al., 2021; Pham et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2022). This was the first study to assess a broader spectrum of cytokines following whole blood stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 antigen in PAD patients.

As some IEI diagnoses are associated with reduced antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and initial vaccine trials excluded individuals with IEI, the lack of data in this specific population served as a reason for hesitation among some patients regarding vaccination. Therefore, studies on immune responses are essential in patients with rare immune system disorders (Aberumand et al., 2022). However, there are additional reasons for vaccine refusal. To date, only three studies have explored the reasons for SARS-CoV-2 vaccine refusal among patients with IEI (Aberumand et al., 2022; Pergent et al., 2023; Więsik-Szewczyk et al., 2022), and none of these employed a qualitative research design. By using a qualitative approach, it is possible to identify novel, IEI-specific factors influencing vaccine refusal that may not be captured through pre-formulated, multiple-choice surveys designed by researchers. These context-specific factors may differ significantly from those observed in the general population and warrant deeper investigation.

#### Discussion

## 1 Prevalence of Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvian Population

In the first part of the study, data on patients diagnosed with inborn errors of immunity (IEI) in Latvia were obtained from medical records in order to estimate the prevalence of IEI in the Latvian population and to select patients for subsequent stages of the research. In Latvia, IEI patients are monitored at Pauls Stradiņš Clinical University Hospital and the Children's Clinical University Hospital, and data were collected from both institutions.

Over a 27-year period from 1994 to 2020, a total of 173 patients with IEI were diagnosed in Latvia. The point prevalence of IEI in Latvia in December 2020 was 7.1 per 100,000 inhabitants. According to the European Society for Immunodeficiencies (ESID) registry data, the overall prevalence of IEI in European countries ranges from 1.3 per 100,000 inhabitants in Poland to 8.85 per 100,000 inhabitants in Ireland (Bonilla et al., 2016; Ryan et al., 2022). It should be noted that the prevalence of IEI in Latvia was initially very low but has increased in recent years: from 0.08 cases per 100,000 inhabitants in 1994 and 1.1 per 100,000 in 2004 to 7.1 per 100,000 inhabitants in 2020. In 2004, the international "J Project" – an educational and clinical research collaboration in the field of immunodeficiencies, now involving 32 countries – was launched. The aim of the J Project is to raise awareness and improve early diagnosis and treatment of IEI. In Latvia, as well as in other Eastern and Central European countries, the project has contributed to better recognition and diagnosis of IEI, resulting in an increase in patient numbers (Abolhassani et al., 2022). IEI diagnostics have also improved due to the introduction of new diagnostic methods and greater availability of genetic testing.

In Latvia, the most frequently diagnosed IEI group is combined immunodeficiencies with syndromic features, whereas in many other countries, PAD predominate – from 20 % of all IEI cases in Iceland to 63 % in Italy (Lougaris et al., 2020; Ludviksson et al., 2014). In J Project countries, PAD accounted for 46.3 % of all IEI patients, with combined immunodeficiencies being the second most common type (14.3 %) (Abolhassani et al., 2022). In contrast, PAD in Latvia accounts for only 21 % of all IEI cases. The lower proportion of PAD may be explained by under-recognition of these disorders.

For the most severe forms of IEI, the incidence of severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) in Latvia between 1994 and 2020 was 1 in 32,963 live births. Early detection of this condition is crucial, as it allows for immediate isolation and referral for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Outcomes are better in children who undergo transplantation before 3.5 months of age, prior to developing severe infections (Thakar et al., 2023). Newborn screening for early diagnosis of SCID has been implemented in 17 European countries (Blom et al., 2024) and, since 2023, also in Latvia (Ministry of Health, 2023). Following the introduction of screening, SCID detection rates are expected to rise, as cases that would otherwise result in early death from infection prior to diagnosis can now be identified, suggesting that the true incidence may be higher (Ricci et al., 2024).

This is the first study on the prevalence of IEI in the Latvian population. The main strength of the study is the long observation period and the availability of data from all Latvian centres treating these rare diseases. A potential limitation is the absence of a national registry for IEI patients, the possibility of incomplete information in medical records, and the likelihood that some patients remain undiagnosed or have not been referred to an immunologist, which means that the prevalence of IEI in Latvia may be underestimated.

## 2 Immunological Response of PAD Patients to the SARS-CoV-2 Antigen

For the second part of the study, from all IEI patients diagnosed in Latvia, those with the most common PADs were selected. This part of the study included 47 participants: 17 patients with CVID, 15 patients with SIgAD, and 15 individuals from the control group. Relevant clinical data for CVID and SIgAD patients were obtained from medical records and questionnaires. The patients in our study and control group participants had received a homologous vaccination regimen with one of the following vaccines – Pfizer-BioNTech/BNT162b2 (two or three doses), Spikevax mRNA-1273 (two or three doses), or Jcovden Ad26. COV2 (one dose); 50 % of patients and 53 % of control group participants had received a booster dose at least 6 months after completion of the primary vaccination series. The mean time since the last vaccine dose was 173 days in the patient group and 215 days in the control group. In this part of the study, the humoral and T-cell immune responses to the SARS-CoV-2 antigen in PAD patients were assessed.

Blood samples from study participants were collected between April and July 2022. To assess the SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral response, SARS-CoV-2 spike protein S1 domain – specific IgG antibody levels were measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). To determine the T-cell response specific to the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein S1 and S2 domains, the interferon-γ (IFN-γ) release assay (IGRA) QuantiFERON SARS-CoV-2 was used, which measured IFN-γ increase after stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 peptide antigens. For the detection of cytokine changes before and after stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 spike protein antigens, xMAP Luminex technology was used. Differences in antibody levels, T-cell-derived IFN-γ, and other cytokines were assessed between the patient and control groups, and within

the patient group – also their association with clinical presentation and disease severity.

### 2.1 Humoral Response

Seroconversion, defined as an IgG antibody level specific to the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein exceeding the positivity threshold, was observed in 93 % of CVID patients and in all SIgAD patients and control group participants. In contrast, other studies have reported substantial variation in seropositivity rates among PAD patients, with rates ranging from 15 % to 100 % in adult populations (Abella et al., 2022; Amodio et al., 2021; Barmettler et al., 2022; Bergman et al., 2021; Delmonte et al., 2021; Göschl et al., 2022; Hagin et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2022; Oyaert et al., 2022; Pham et al., 2022; Pulvirenti et al., 2021; Salinas et al., 2021; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Walder, et al., 2022a; Squire & Joshi, 2021; Steiner et al., 2023; A. M. Zhang et al., 2024). It should be noted, however, that many of these studies had relatively small sample sizes. In studies with larger CVID cohorts, seropositivity rates ranged from 66 % to 81 % (Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Tanner, et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2022). This broad variation may also be explained by differences in study methodologies and disease heterogeneity, prior COVID-19 infection history, differences in vaccination regimens, and the time elapsed since the last vaccine dose (Quinti et al., 2022; Steiner et al., 2023).

Although the majority of our study participants achieved specific antibody levels above the positivity threshold, SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody levels were lower in CVID patients compared with healthy controls and SIgAD patients. This finding aligns with other studies reporting both a lower initial SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody response and a more rapid decline in antibody levels after vaccination in CVID patients compared with other IEI patients or controls (Pino-Molina del et al., 2021; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Tanner, et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2023). We did not assess neutralizing capacity;

however, in CVID, even quantitatively adequate antibody levels may be associated with reduced quality – lower avidity, impaired neutralizing capacity, and a restricted antibody repertoire (Nadesalingam et al., 2023; Pham et al., 2022; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Walder, et al., 2022a; Steiner et al., 2023; Troelnikov et al., 2023). These findings have been attributed to impaired germinal center formation and memory B-cell development. For example, after Pfizer-BioNTech/BNT162b2 vaccination, CVID patients had reduced numbers of SARS-CoV-2-specific memory B cells compared with controls, and a higher proportion of atypical memory B cells, likely generated in extrafollicular rather than germinal center reactions, resulting in shorter antibody persistence (Salinas et al., 2021). Another study found reduced IgG1+ and CD11c+ memory B cells after primary mRNA vaccination in PAD patients, suggesting defects in B-cell receptor signaling and/or reduced T-cell help (Lin et al., 2022).

In our study, neither prior COVID-19 infection nor its severity was associated with SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody levels or seropositivity. However, at the time of the study in April 2022, the majority of patients (59 %) and controls (53 %) had already been exposed to SARS-CoV-2. The rarity of these diseases limited the sample size and thus the statistical power to detect significant associations. Previous studies have shown that PAD patients with prior COVID-19 infection had higher post-vaccination antibody levels than infection-naïve patients (Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Walder, et al., 2022), although other studies found no such association in IEI patients (Erra et al., 2022).

No differences were observed between vaccine types and SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody levels or seropositivity in our study. Similarly, the COV-AD study reported no difference in immunogenicity between several homologous vaccine regimens in PAD patients (Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Tanner, et al., 2022), whereas another study including various IEI patients found higher immunogenicity for Spikevax mRNA-1273 compared with other

vaccines (Sputnik V, Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1, Sinopharm/BIBP, Pfizer-BioNTech/BNT162b2) (Erra et al., 2022). All patients in our study received homologous regimens, while some studies reported higher seropositivity with heterologous regimens (e. g. Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1 primary series and Pfizer-BioNTech/BNT162b2 booster) (Kamar et al., 2021; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Tanner, et al., 2022; Zimmerman et al., 2022). In our study, the number of vaccine doses was not associated with seropositivity or antibody levels, and our design did not allow assessment of antibody kinetics after each dose. However, other studies have shown that some CVID patients without seroconversion after the first mRNA dose developed positive antibody levels after additional doses, and avidity improved (Delmonte et al., 2021; Goda et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2022; Barmettler et al., 2022; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Tanner, et al., 2022; Tandon et al., 2023; Zimmerman et al., 2022). This suggests that multiple vaccine doses are clinically beneficial, especially in high-risk PAD patients (A. M. Zhang et al., 2024). Another study found that revaccination corrected the IgG1 class-switching defect in PAD patients' memory B cells (Lin et al., 2022). However, other reports suggest that CVID patients without an initial response may not improve after a third or fourth mRNA dose (Nielsen et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2023). Overall, although many CVID patients produce detectable SARS-CoV-2-specific antibodies, some still fail to mount a sufficient immune response, which could theoretically be predicted based on baseline immune profiles and clinical features.

Previous reports have indicated that PAD patients with a history of autoimmunity or other non-infectious complications have a poorer response to vaccination (Durkee-Shock & Keller, 2022; Goda et al., 2022; Pulvirenti et al., 2021; Shin et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2023). However, some studies have found no association between immune response and clinical manifestations (Mizera et al., 2023; Steiner et al., 2023). In our study, no association was found

between SARS-CoV-2-specific IgG levels and clinical manifestations of the disease, although interpretation of these data should take into account the limited sample size, which reduced the ability to detect significant associations. Nevertheless, it should be noted that while the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein-specific IgG level did not directly correlate with clinical parameters in our study, we did find an association between cytokine levels produced by cells involved in antibody synthesis and the presence of autoantibodies in patient sera. This association will be discussed further in the Discussion section.

No statistically significant correlation was observed between SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody and T-cell responses in the CVID group. In contrast, in the SIgAD and control groups, a correlation was observed between SARS-CoV-2-specific antibodies and T-cell immunity, a trend also described in studies of healthy individuals – a positive correlation between the frequency of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein-specific T cells (CD4+ and CD8+) and IgG antibody levels early after vaccination, suggesting the parallel development of adaptive humoral and cellular immunity (Boppana et al., 2021; Sahin et al., 2021). In other studies, including PAD patients, however, specific antibody titers did not correlate with T-cell response (Göschl et al., 2022; Mizera et al., 2023). Regarding correlations between T-cell subpopulations and SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral response, our study found an association between humoral response and the number of central memory CD8+ cells, and specifically in the SIgAD group – also with the number of central memory CD4+ cells, similar to findings previously described in PAD patients (Rosenthal et al., 2023; Shin et al., 2022).

In our study, no association was found between SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody response and the number of B-cell subpopulations, a result similar to another study of early post-vaccination responses in IEI patients (Amodio et al., 2021). However, other studies have reported associations between post-vaccination SARS-CoV-2 humoral response and baseline IgG, IgA, total

B-cell counts, switched memory B cells, marginal zone-like B cells, regulatory B cells, or CD21low B-cell counts in PAD patients (Antolí et al., 2022; Barmettler et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2024; Pham et al., 2022; Sauerwein et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2022). In our study, EUROclass phenotypes were also not associated with SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral response, and no other reports on this association in the context of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination are currently available.

It is important to note that interpretation of SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody levels in this and other studies may be influenced by the fact that CVID patients receive immunoglobulin replacement therapy. It is possible that immunoglobulin preparations contained specific antibodies to the SARS-CoV-2 antigen at the time of blood sampling in April 2022 (Babaha & Rezaei, 2020; Göschl et al., 2022). To minimize potential interference, blood samples in our study were collected before the next scheduled immunoglobulin infusion. The time from donor plasma collection to the distribution of a ready-to-use immunoglobulin product is usually up to one year (Zimmerman et al., 2022). In other studies, CVID patients without a SARS-CoV-2-specific humoral response after vaccination were also receiving IgG replacement therapy, making it unlikely that passive immunization from IgG therapy significantly influenced the results of SARS-CoV-2 antibody analysis (Arroyo-Sánchez et al., 2022; Nielsen et al., 2022; Pham et al., 2022; Sauerwein et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2022; Volk et al., 2022). A similar finding was observed in our study group: a patient receiving immunoglobulin replacement therapy – achieving normal serum IgG levels, confirming treatment adherence – had SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody titers below the reference interval positivity threshold. Furthermore, immunoglobulin replacement products tested in the first half of 2022 still had low antibody titers both against the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein and against

the receptor-binding domain (Farcet et al., 2022; Nielsen et al., 2022; Romero et al., 2022; Zimmerman et al., 2022).

### 2.2 T-cell response

CD8+ T cells play a crucial role in the antiviral response during acute infection, whereas B and CD4+ T cells are essential for preventing viral infection and ultimately clearing the virus (Wolf de et al., 2022). If a virus infects an immunocompetent person with acquired immunity to that virus, activated CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes limit the spread of intracellular viral components by releasing granzymes and perforins, delivering apoptosis signals, and secreting immunostimulatory cytokines, including IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . In viral infections, the role of various CD4+ T-cell subpopulations is to coordinate and regulate antiviral immunity (Apostolidis et al., 2021; Piazza di et al., 2021).

In our study, a T-cell response to the SARS-CoV-2 antigen was detected in the majority of patients with CVID (93 %) and SIgAD (92 %), measured as an increase in IFN-γ synthesis following stimulation with SARS-CoV-2-specific antigens in the IGRA assay. In other studies, T-cell responses have been reported in 53 % to 90 % of patients with IEI (Amodio et al., 2021; Antolí et al., 2022; Delmonte et al., 2021; Gernez et al., 2022; Goda et al., 2022; Göschl et al., 2022; Hagin et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2022; Mizera et al., 2023; Oyaert et al., 2022; Salinas et al., 2021; Steiner et al., 2023).

In our work, no statistically significant differences in SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell responses were observed between the PAD patient and control groups, consistent with findings from other studies (Abolhassani et al., 2022; Goda et al., 2022; Göschl et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2024; Hagin et al., 2021; Murray et al., 2023; Pham et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2023). This aligns with disease pathogenesis, as PID patients primarily have impaired antibody production rather than peripheral T-cell function (Tangye et al., 2022). In several studies, T-cell responses in PID patients were even more pronounced compared to controls

(Ainsua-Enrich et al., 2022; Amodio et al., 2021; Delmonte et al., 2021), possibly due to compensatory T-cell function in patients with primary B-cell defects (Amodio et al., 2021).

However, PIDs are a heterogeneous group of disorders, and some studies have found that CVID patients have reduced T-cell responses compared to controls (Ainsua-Enrich et al., 2022; Antolí et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2021; Sauerwein et al., 2022; Leeuwen van et al., 2023). For example, in a study assessing SARS-CoV-2 spike protein-specific cytotoxic T-cell activation, CVID patients had a lower number of spike-specific activated CD8+CD25+ T cells compared to controls, and this did not improve even after the third vaccine dose. Although the IFN-y positivity threshold was reached as frequently in CVID patients as in controls, the absolute number of IFN-y-secreting T cells was significantly lower in CVID patients (Ainsua-Enrich et al., 2022). Similarly, another small study found reduced numbers of SARS-CoV-2 spike-specific cytotoxic T cells (CD8+ CD107a+ granzyme B+ perforin+) in CVID patients compared to healthy controls or patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia (Gupta et al., 2021). These conflicting results may reflect methodological differences and disease heterogeneity. Although most PID patients do not have primary T-cell defects, mild cellular immune impairments are possible in some cases. For example, in certain patients, an antibody production defect may be due not to a primary B-cell dysfunction, but to reduced T follicular helper cell support for B cells in the germinal centre reaction of secondary lymphoid organs (Amodio et al., 2021; Sepahi et al., 2024). Specific pathogenic gene variants related to CVID can also impair T-cell immune responses; for instance, pathogenic variants in NFKB1 disrupt the NF-κB signalling pathway – an essential transcription factor regulating antigen-specific immune responses – and may also cause excessive proinflammatory cytokine (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ ) expression, potentially contributing to autoimmunity (Dieli-Crimi et al., 2018).

Although our study found no statistically significant link between clinical manifestations and T-cell responses, it is worth noting that the only CVID patient without a detectable T-cell response had three autoimmune diseases and a confirmed pathogenic NRAS variant on genetic testing. This patient showed no IFN-γ increase because the baseline serum IFN-γ level before antigen stimulation was similar to the post-stimulation levels seen in other samples. Previous reports have described enhanced type I IFN pathway activation in patients with NRAS pathogenic variants (Papa et al., 2021), but elevated type II IFN levels have not been reported. Immunosuppressive therapy may also account for reduced T-cell responses after vaccination. In our study, the only SIgAD patient without a positive T-cell response (low serum IFN-γ both before and after antigen stimulation) had rheumatoid arthritis and was receiving immunosuppressive therapy, including biologics. Previous studies have similarly reported poor T-cell responses in patients on immunosuppression (Liebers et al., 2022; Oyaert et al., 2022; Sleen van et al., 2023).

In our study, there were no differences in T-cell responses between recipients of different vaccines, consistent with other IEI studies (Arroyo-Sánchez et al., 2022; Erra et al., 2022; Shields, Faustini, Hill, Al-Taei, Walder, et al., 2022). We found no association between the magnitude of T-cell response and prior COVID-19 infection or disease severity. Data on this point are mixed – some studies have similar findings (Erra et al., 2022), while the COV-AD study found stronger T-cell responses in patients with prior COVID-19 compared to COVID-19-naïve PID patients (Shields et al., 2022).

In this study, no significant association was found between SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell responses and T-cell subsets, as also reported in other studies (Antolí et al., 2022; Goda et al., 2022; Shields et al., 2022). Patients without a detectable T-cell response did not differ significantly in T-cell subset frequencies in our study or in others (Amodio et al., 2021). We also found no

significant correlation between SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell responses and B-cell subsets, or total IgG, IgM, or IgA levels, consistent with prior reports (Goda et al., 2022; Shields et al., 2022). In our cohort, EUROclass phenotypes were not associated with T-cell responses, and no other reports addressing this point in the context of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination are available.

Differences in T-cell responses were not linked to clinical parameters, except in the SIgAD group, where patients with recurrent otitis had significantly lower T-cell responses compared to those without this infection. However, in other studies, as with absent SARS-CoV-2-specific antibody responses, absent T-cell responses were seen in patients with autoimmune diseases (Amodio et al., 2021; Hagin et al., 2021; Leeuwen van et al., 2022) and benign lymphoproliferation (Arroyo-Sánchez et al., 2022), although some studies did not find such associations (Goda et al., 2022). Interpretation of these data must take into account the sample size, which limited the ability to detect significant associations.

The method used to assess T-cell responses has limitations that must be considered: T-cell responses are complex and can activate various molecular pathways, resulting in different functional cytokine expression profiles. In this study, we used a commercially available IGRA assay to measure SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell immunity, but methodological variability is high (e. g. assays based on cytokine secretion profiles, antigen-induced proliferative responses, expression of specific activation markers, delayed-type hypersensitivity skin tests, etc. ), and no consensus exists on the single most accurate method for characterizing antigen-specific T-cell responses, which complicates comparison across studies (Barrios et al., 2022; Friedmann et al., 2020).

Overall, although our study did not find statistically significant differences in SARS-CoV-2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  responses between CVID, SIgAD, and control groups,

this does not exclude the possibility that in some cases PID patients may have impairments in the secretion of other cytokines (Lin et al., 2022).

## 3 Cytokine Secretion Profile of PAD Patients after SARS-CoV-2 Antigen Stimulation

The results of this study revealed that PAD patients exhibited a statistically significant increase in IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-10, IL-15, and IL-17A levels after whole blood stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 antigen, while IL-21, IL-4, and IL-6 levels did not increase. Conversely, TGF-β1 levels were lower after incubation with SARS-CoV-2 antigen compared to baseline. No differences were observed between groups (SIgAD, CVID, and control) in the dynamics of cytokine level changes, whereas in measurements without antigen incubation (cytokine baseline levels), several cytokine differences were noted: PAD patients had higher baseline IL-10 and IL-4 levels compared to controls. Previously, IL-4 signalling pathway disruptions have been associated with CVID severity (Taraldsrud et al., 2017). Another study reported that increases in cytokines IL-10, IL-12, IFN-γ, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-22 one month post SARS-CoV-2 vaccination were higher in CVID patients compared to pre-vaccination levels, while other cytokines (IL-1β, IL-4, IL-5, and TNF-α) did not show differential increases versus controls (Rosenthal et al., 2023).

As mentioned earlier, vaccinated PAD patients showed higher IFN- $\gamma$  levels after SARS-CoV-2 antigen stimulation compared to unvaccinated patients who had recovered from COVID-19. In this study, no differences were found in other cytokine level changes after stimulation between vaccinated and unvaccinated patients, although a prior study in healthy individuals demonstrated that TNF- $\alpha$  responses to stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 peptide pools (spike, nucleocapsid, and membrane proteins) were significantly higher in vaccinated versus unvaccinated convalescent participants (Li et al., 2021). This discrepancy

may relate to differences in the peptide pools used for antigen stimulation and the relatively small sample size of this dissertation study.

Further, this work explored whether SARS-CoV-2-specific cytokine responses correlated with immunological and clinical phenotypes of PAD patients, including non-infectious complications. In this study, the presence of autoantibodies in PAD patient serum correlated with higher baseline IL-4 and TNF- $\alpha$  levels, as well as with an increase in IL-4 levels following SARS-CoV-2 antigen stimulation. IL-4 elevation also correlated with total IgG and IgM levels but not with SARS-CoV-2-specific IgG. Additionally, IL-21 increases post-stimulation correlated with CVID severity (as measured by a clinical severity scale that increases with both infectious and non-infectious complications). It is known that in germinal centres, TFH cells predominantly produce IL-21 and IL-4 to support B-cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation (Ueno, 2016). Deficiency of TFH-derived IL-4 results in inadequate B-cell help (Yusuf et al., 2010), and IL-21 defects associate with long-lived plasma cell abnormalities. In IL-21 receptor knockout mouse models (IL-21R-/-), initial germinal centre formation, immunoglobulin class switching, and virus-specific IgG responses were normal, but germinal centres dissipated earlier and long-lived plasma cell formation and sustained antibody levels were impaired (Rasheed et al., 2013). Other studies have linked IL-4 and IL-21 pathway defects in both CVID and SIgAD patients with increased prevalence of non-infectious complications, including autoimmunity (Desjardins et al., 2018; Ho & Cunningham-Rundles, 2020; Salzer et al., 2014; Singh et al., 2014; Yazdani et al., 2019).

Although a direct connection between COVID-19 and autoimmunity has not been established, multiple reports have described autoimmune disease development following COVID-19 infection (Banjongjit et al., 2024; Catriona & Paolo, 2022; Diao et al., 2020; Halpert & Shoenfeld, 2020; Kasperkiewicz &

Woodley, 2023; Kouranloo et al., 2023; Laxminarayana, 2022; Lyons-Weiler, 2020; Nabizadeh et al., 2022; Shoenfeld, 2020; Stathi et al., 2023; Y. Zhang et al., 2020). In immunocompetent COVID-19 patients, excessive plasmablast expansion associated with autoantibody production was observed. These plasmablasts developed under the influence of IL-4 and B-cell activating factor (BAFF), and two distinct memory B-cell populations with autoreactive features were identified (Schultheiß et al., 2021). Previous studies have also linked polymorphisms in IL-4 and IL-10 gene promoters with CVID development (Rezaei et al., 2010).

In this dissertation study, PAD patients with benign polyclonal lymphoproliferation – manifested as hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, and lymphadenopathy – showed a smaller increase in IL-10 levels after SARS-CoV-2 antigen stimulation compared to patients without these manifestations or controls. IL-10 is primarily produced by T cells, especially Tregs and TFH cells, as well as monocytes and regulatory B cells. It functions as an anti-inflammatory cytokine that can inhibit proinflammatory cytokine synthesis (Varzaneh et al., 2014). Previous studies linked splenomegaly with B-cell homeostasis dysregulation, including decreased switched memory B-cell numbers, indicative of germinal centre dysfunction (Wehr et al., 2008).

Interestingly, a 2024 study reported the first use of CD4+ T-cell inducible costimulator (ICOS) activation with vopratelimab in CVID treatment, which significantly increased total TFH and TFH2 cell counts and normalised IL-4, IL-10, and IL-21 secretion in vitro. Vopratelimab treatment also increased plasma cells, IgG+ B cells, decreased naïve and transitional B cells, and significantly increased IgG1 secretion in CVID patients. Remarkably, vopratelimab restored IgA secretion in vitro in several CVID patients with complete endogenous IgA deficiency in serum, supporting the clinical

importance of IL-4, IL-10, and IL-21 dysfunction in CVID pathogenesis (Sepahi et al., 2024).

In our study, alongside the aforementioned cytokine changes, a decrease in TGF-β1 levels after whole blood stimulation with SARS-CoV-2 antigen was observed, more pronounced in patients with lower SARS-CoV-2-specific IgG titers. TGF-β1's role in antibody synthesis mainly involves inducing Treg activity to suppress B cells (Strainic et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2016) and promoting class switching primarily to IgA1 and IgA2 antibodies (Ferreira-Gomes et al., 2021). Various cells, including most immune cells, can produce TGF-β1 in response to infection; it mainly acts as a regulator of immune cells such as Tregs, NK cells, and macrophages (Ramírez-Martínez et al., 2022). TGF-β1 is initially produced as a latent complex requiring activation, which can occur via multiple mechanisms including Treg-mediated pathways (Liénart et al., 2018). TGF-β1 can activate NF-κB, further regulating expression of cytokines such as IFN-γ, TNF-α, and IL-1β (Hamidi et al., 2021; Yan et al., 2022). In our PAD patient group, changes in TGF- $\beta$ 1 negatively correlated with IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  levels. A possible explanation for decreased TGF-\(\beta\)1 after SARS-CoV-2 stimulation is TNF-α and IL-1β-induced activation of SMAD7 (main signal transducers for receptors of TGF- β superfamily) expression, which inhibits TGF-β1 synthesis (Bitzer et al., 2000; Liang et al., 2024). Additionally, TNF-α levels were significantly higher in patients with low switched memory B-cell counts (EUROclass B+SmB-).

The study has several limitations. First, the sample size was limited due to the rarity of these diseases and the relatively small and imbalanced control group, reducing statistical power and the ability to detect significant associations. Second, the observational design and long post-immunization time window precluded evaluation of immune response dynamics. Third, SARS-CoV-2 infection history was assessed based on medical records and PCR tests rather

than anti-nucleocapsid antibody testing, potentially limiting the accuracy of hybrid immunity detection, especially in mild or asymptomatic infections. Fourth, SARS-CoV-2-specific memory B-cell evaluation and neutralizing antibody capacity were not included. In healthy patients after COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2-specific memory B-cell numbers tend to increase for several months post-infection (Dan et al., 2021). Lastly, whole blood antigen stimulation has limitations: T-cell responses are complex, activating various cell subsets and molecular pathways, producing diverse cytokine expression profiles. Moreover, only the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein antigen was used; nucleocapsid and membrane proteins were not included. IL-2 cytokine analysis was excluded due to technical reasons. Comparison with other studies is limited due to methodological differences.

## 4 Reasons for Refusal of Recommended SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination

As mentioned, the most common clinical manifestation of inborn errors of immunity (IEI) is increased susceptibility to infectious diseases, which might suggest that these patients would be especially interested in infection prevention measures. However, despite the fact that responsible institutions recommended SARS-CoV-2 vaccination for IEI patients (ESID, 2022), and multiple studies demonstrated vaccine safety specifically in this patient group and reported positive immune response markers after vaccination (Bergman et al., 2021; Milito et al., 2023), there were patients who refused vaccination against SARS-CoV-2.

This is the first study that used qualitative research methods to gain a broader understanding of the motivations underlying IEI patients' decisions to refuse vaccination. The dissertation concluded that patients' choices to refuse SARS-CoV-2 vaccination were influenced by several interrelated and reinforcing reasons. The main themes identified as reasons for refusal were: (1)

fear and uncertainty, (2) concerns about risks and perceived lack of benefits, (3) external influences from people around them, (4) distrust and unwillingness to comply, and (5) personal beliefs about vaccination and COVID-19.

### 4.1 Fear and Uncertainty

Several patients in the study reported fear of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination. Some could specify the reasons for their fear, while others described more vague fears not linked to rational considerations. Patients also felt unique due to their disease and felt that recommendations offered to the general population by public health specialists did not apply to them. Some participants emphasized feelings of confusion and uncertainty about what to consider truth versus myth. From a vaccine communication perspective, healthcare professionals play a crucial role in building trust, informing patients about the personal benefits of vaccination, and addressing these patients' specific concerns and misinformation regarding SARS-CoV-2 vaccines (Silver et al., 2022). Trust between doctors and patients is especially important; it has been shown that a personal recommendation from a healthcare provider positively influences vaccination decisions (Fernandes et al., 2021; Silver et al., 2022). These results also highlight the importance of ensuring physicians' and nurses' awareness about the efficacy and safety of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in individuals with IEI (Pergent et al., 2023).

#### 4.2 Risk and Benefit Assessment

A reduced perception of possible benefit combined with concerns about health deterioration after vaccination led some participants to consider the risks associated with vaccination greater than its potential benefits. Previous studies showed that IEI patients who refused vaccination most frequently expressed concerns that vaccination would not provide sufficient protection against COVID-19; followed by concerns about allergic reactions, unknown vaccine side effects, or possible disease exacerbation (Aberumand et al., 2022; Pergent

et al., 2023). In contrast, in the general population, the most commonly cited concerns relate directly to possible vaccine side effects. In our study, patients with antibody deficiency noted that a reason for refusal was their previous lack of antibody development after vaccinations for other vaccine-preventable diseases. Furthermore, although most people in this study group were convinced that COVID-19 is a severe disease, some patients perceived the potential threats posed by vaccines as more serious than the illness itself. A study in the Latvian general population revealed that subjectively perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 was not identified as a factor influencing SARS-CoV-2 vaccination behaviour (Šuriņa et al., 2021), unlike in other countries (Al-Amer et al., 2022).

#### 4.3 External Influences

Narratives about negative health outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 vaccination are also present in the Latvian population (Šuriņa et al., 2021) and may affect IEI patients' attitudes toward vaccination. Some participants shared negative experiences from family members or close friends, others from more distant sources including healthcare workers and legislators. Several study participants admitted hearing these stories on social media platforms. Studies have also confirmed a connection between media discourse and willingness to vaccinate: in countries where social media discussions focus more on side effects or negative emotions related to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination, vaccine uptake rates are lower (Jun et al., 2022).

# 4.4 Distrust and Unwillingness to Comply – "Individual vs. System"

Previous studies showed that the majority of IEI patients' concerns were specifically related to the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, and only 1.7–4.7 % expressed distrust of vaccines in general (Aberumand et al., 2022; Pergent et al., 2023). In our study, participants also expressed views on topics such as distrust of

the medical system or policy-makers. Many of these factors influencing vaccine hesitancy were also identified in the Latvian general population, so they are not unique to immunocompromised groups. Interestingly, another Latvian general population study found that trust in state institutions and fear of COVID-19 are key determinants of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination behaviour (Surina et al., 2022). Trust in vaccination can be viewed at three levels: trust in the specific vaccine product (e. g. the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine and its developers), trust in the vaccine provider (e. g. healthcare workers), and faith in legislators (e. g. government and health system leadership) (Maciuszek et al., 2023; Prati, 2020). Our study data indicate that patients' perceptions of vaccine efficacy and safety are influenced by distrust at all three levels. Other studies confirm that distrust in state institutions directly affects the willingness of people to act according to recommendations, whereas trust and confidence in the state and healthcare system correlate with greater willingness to vaccinate against SARS-CoV-2 (Chan et al., 2020). Distrust of policymakers, combined with psychological and structural factors, is considered an important aspect shaping belief in conspiracy theories (Kim & Kim, 2020; Simione et al., 2021; Uscinski et al., 2020; Prooijen van, 2019). Some participants also reported feeling that vaccination was forced upon them and that their personal bodily autonomy was restricted, creating a stronger desire to resist SARS-CoV-2 vaccination; a similar tendency was observed in a study among Latvian healthcare workers (Lielsvagere-Endele et al., 2022). While mandatory vaccination may be effective in the short term, it can potentially provoke resistance and adverse attitudes toward vaccination in the long term (Bardosh et al., 2022).

### 4.5 Personal Beliefs about Vaccination and COVID-19

Negative personal experiences related to vaccination and mistaken beliefs were factors deterring IEI patients from vaccination in our study. Some erroneous beliefs were widespread vaccine myths, such as the idea that vaccines can

"overload" or "weaken" the immune system (Geoghegan et al., 2020). Others were specific to IEI patients, for example, the belief that vaccination is unnecessary if a patient receives immunoglobulin replacement therapy. This belief is incorrect and not consistent with ESID recommendations (ESID, 2022). Firstly, immunoglobulin preparation is a complex process lasting several months (up to about a year), so SARS-CoV-2-specific antibodies appear in these products with a delay (Jin et al., 2021; Pham et al., 2022). Secondly, even if a specific antibody response to vaccination is absent in a patient, T-cell immune responses may be normal and provide additional protection against SARS-CoV-2 infection (Amodio et al., 2021; Bergman et al., 2021; Li et al., 2021; Moss, 2022; Shields et al., 2022).

Hope that vaccines provide complete sterile immunity, combined with a tendency to assess vaccine effectiveness based not on empirical evidence but on a limited number of cases observed in close social circles, was an additional factor contributing to scepticism about vaccine efficacy. These misconceptions may be linked to insufficient health literacy among the Latvian population. Previous studies show that approximately 79 % of Latvian residents have weak health literacy competencies, which may contribute to widespread risky health behaviours, including vaccine refusal (Gatulytė et al., 2022). However, other studies show that education in the general population has less influence on vaccine hesitancy than trust in healthcare and science. This suggests that lack of knowledge may be less significant than public trust in healthcare and science (Rughiniş et al., 2022).

This part of the study has several limitations. First, interviews were conducted from April to August 2023, i. e., around the end of the pandemic situation in May 2023. Considering that vaccination initiatives were mainly carried out in 2021 and 2022, recall bias is possible. However, this timing also allowed exclusion of IEI patients who were willing to vaccinate. Second, some

specific IEI diagnosis groups may be underrepresented. Third, multiple models explaining vaccine hesitancy exist. In our study, the Health Belief Model was used to design interview questions. Other models exist, such as the 5C model, which considers confidence, complacency, constraints, calculation, and collective responsibility as factors influencing vaccine hesitancy (Gendler & Ofri, 2021). Our interview questions did not include constraints (e. g. physical or financial access), self-efficacy, or views on collective responsibility, as these were not predicted to be important in deterring immunodeficient patients from vaccination (Aberumand et al., 2022; Pergent et al., 2023; Więsik-Szewczyk et al., 2022). Nevertheless, the semi-structured interview format and open questions allowed participants to express any vaccination-related concerns. Also, vaccination was easily accessible through specialised vaccination centres or family doctor practices across Latvia and was provided free of charge, minimizing access-related concerns as factors influencing SARS-CoV-2 vaccination behaviour.

In conclusion, reasons for refusal of recommended SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among IEI patients in Latvia are multifaceted, involving political context as well as societal and individual psychological factors. While most reasons for vaccine hesitancy in this group mirror those in the general population, the data indicate that immunodeficient individuals have unique beliefs and concerns influencing their vaccination decisions.

#### Conclusions

- 1 The point prevalence of inborn errors of immunity (IEI) in Latvia in December 2020 was 7.1 per 100,000 inhabitants.
- 2 SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell responses in patients with CVID and SIgAD did not differ significantly from those in the control group, whereas the humoral response in CVID patients was significantly lower compared to both SIgAD patients and healthy controls.
- 3 Humoral immune responses did not differ significantly between clinical phenotypes of PAD; however, post-stimulation changes in the levels of several cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, IL-21, TNF-α) showed a tendency toward association with clinical manifestations or phenotypes.
- 4 Among IEI patients, specific disease-related reasons for vaccine refusal were identified, including the belief that vaccination is contraindicated in immunodeficient individuals, and the perception that SARS-CoV-2 vaccination is unnecessary if receiving immunoglobulin replacement therapy.

## **Proposals**

- 1 A lower proportion of predominantly antibody deficiencies (PAD) was observed among diagnosed IEI patients in Latvia. Continued efforts are needed to improve PAD recognition and diagnosis within the Latvian population by educating healthcare professionals who may be involved in the care of these patients.
- 2 SARS-CoV-2-specific T-cell responses in PAD patients did not differ from those in the control group, and the majority of patients also demonstrated a positive humoral response. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination should therefore be recommended for this patient group.
- 3 Healthcare professionals play a crucial role in building trust, communicating the personal benefits of vaccination, and addressing disease-specific concerns and misinformation regarding SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in this patient population.

# List of publications, reports and patents on the topic of the Thesis

#### **Publications:**

- Prokofjeva, T., Lucane, Z., Kovalova, Z., Kurjane, N. 2022. Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvia: Analysis of Data from 1994 to 2020. *J Clin Immunol*. 24.02.2022. 42:876-879. doi: 10.1007/s10875-022-01229-1.
- Lucane, Z., Freidenberga, D., Kurjane, N. 2021. Inborn error of immunity as the cause of recurrent pericarditis. *BMJ Case Rep.* 19.05.2021. 14:e241449. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-241449.
- Lucane, Z., Davidsone, Z., Micule, I., Auzenbaha, M., Kurjane, N. 2022. A novel frameshift variant in the ADA2 gene of a patient with a neurological phenotype: a case report. *Pediatr Rheumatol Online J.* 17.12.2022. 20:118. doi: 10.1186/s12969-022-00781-9.
- Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Ozola, L., Rots, D., Papirte, S., Vilne, B., Gailite, L., Kurjane, N. 2023. Long-Term Immunological Memory of SARS-CoV-2 Is Present in Patients with Primary Antibody Deficiencies for up to a Year after Vaccination. *Vaccines* (Basel). 03.02.2023. 11:354. doi: 10. 3390/vaccines11020354.
- Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Gersone, G., Papirte, S., Gailite, L., Tretjakovs, P., Kurjane, N. 2023. Cytokine Response Following SARS-CoV-2 Antigen Stimulation in Patients with Predominantly Antibody Deficiencies. *Viruses*. 10.05.2023. 15:1146. doi: 10.3390/v15051146.
- Lucane, Z., Kursite, M., Sablinskis, K., Gailite, L., Kurjane, N. 2023. COVID-19 Vaccination Coverage and Factors Influencing Vaccine Hesitancy among Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvia: A Mixed-Methods Study. *Vaccines (Basel)*. 25.10.2023. 11:1637. doi: 10.3390/vaccines11111637.

### Reports and theses at international congresses and conferences:

- Lucāne, Z.; Šlisere, B.; Nokalna-Spale, I.; Krike, P.; Gerula, N.; Jaunalksne, I.; Kurjāne, N. Serum B-cell Activating Factor (BAFF) Levels are Unrelated to SARS-CoV-2-Specific T cell and Spike-Specific Antibody Responses. 2025. Rīga Stradiņš University International Research Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences Knowledge for Use in Practice, Abstract book, 26.–28.03.2025., 142.
- Rozevska, M., Lucane, Z., Ozola, L., Nartiša, I., Gailite, L., Rots, D., Kurjane, N. 2023. Clinical and genetic diversity of PAD: what is hidden behind PAD? Rīga Stradiņš University Conference *Baltic Immunology Day*, 17.11.2023.
- Nartisa, I., Gailite, L., Lucāne, Z., Neiburga, K. D., Ozola, L., Rozevska, M., Vilne, B., Rots, D., Kurjane, N. 2023. Molecular characterization of Inborn errors of immunity (or primary immunodeficiencies) using Genome sequencing – first findings of the Latvian Council of Science project. Rīga Stradiņš University Conference Baltic Immunology Day, 17.11.2023.

- Lucāne, Z., Papirte, S., Gersone, G., Straupmane, D., Šlisere, B., Vilne, B., Gailīte, L., Tretjakovs, P. & Kurjāne, N. 2023. Cytokine Profile in Patients with Primary Antibody Deficiency in Response to SARS-CoV-2 Antigen. Rīga Stradiņš University Research week 2023: Knowledge for Use in Practice. In: Medicina (Kaunas). 59, Suppl. 2, 359.
- Nartisa, I., Gailīte, L., Lucāne, Z., Vilne, B., Rots, D., Kurjāne, N. 2023. First results
  of using genome sequencing in discovering the molecular cause of primary
  immunodeficiencies. Rīga Stradiņš University Research week 2023: Knowledge for
  Use in Practice. In: Medicina (Kaunas). 59, Suppl. 2, 370.
- Neiburga, K. D., Lucāne, Z., Nartisa, I., Rots, D., Gailite, L., Kisand, K., Pajusalu, S., Vilne, B., Kurjane, N. 2023. Opportunities of RNA-seq in the molecular diagnosis of primary immunodeficiencies. Rīga Stradiņš University Research week 2023: Knowledge for Use in Practice. In: Medicina (Kaunas). 59, Suppl. 2, 584.
- Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Ozola, L., Straupmane, D., Nartisa, I., Rots, D., Paprite, S., Gailite, L., Vilne, B., Kurjane, N. 2022. Long-term humoral and cellular SARS-CoV-2 vaccine specific immune response in patients with primary antibody deficiencies, International online conference *Vaccines and Vaccination During and Post Covid Pandemics*. Abstract book, 07.–09.12.2022, 53: 3rd Place Award Certificate.
- Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Ozola, L., Gerula, N., Jaunalksne, I., Straupmane, D., Kurjane, N. 2022. T Cell Response to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with Common Variable Immunodeficiency and Selective IgA deficiency, 20<sup>th</sup> biennial Meeting of the ESID: Abstract book, 12.10.2022, PD550.
- 9. Lucane, Z. 2022. Primary antibody deficiency a pediatric diagnosis? 3<sup>rd</sup> European Advanced School of Internal Medicine postgraduated course endorsed by EFIM, 03.07.2022.
- 10. Lucāne, Z. 2022. Bieži slimojošs bērns un ģenētiskās testēšanas nozīme imūndeficīta diagnostikā. Klīniskā gadījuma demonstrācija. Rīgas Stradiņa universitātes konference Primārie prevalējoši antivielu deficīti dažādās sejas klīniskajā praksē, 25.05.2022.
- 11. Lucane, Z., Prokofjeva, T., Ozola, L., Kurjane, L. 2022. Atopic and autoimmune manifestations in patients with selective IgA deficiency in Latvia. 80<sup>th</sup> International Scientific Conference of the University of Latvia. In: Medicina (Kaunas). 2022, 58, Suppl. 1, 136.
- 12. Lucāne, Z. 2021. Perikardīts kā primārs imūndeficīts. Latvijas Ārstu biedrības starpdisciplinārā konference *Primāri imūndeficīti klīniskajā praksē bērniem un pieaugušajiem. Klīnisko gadījumu analīze*, 24.04.2021.
- Milta, S., Lucane, Z., Kurjane, N., Hartmane, I. Severe atopic dermatitis in patient with common variable immunodeficiency: case report. RSU International Research Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences Knowledge for Use in Practice – Abstracts, 2021, 467.

- 14. Lucane, Z., Prokofjeva, T., Gailite, L., Aleksejeva, E., Ozola, L., Nartisa, I., Krike, P., Gerula, N., Jaunalksne, I., Kurjane, N. 2021. Predominantly antibody deficiencies in children and adults in Latvia 1994–2020. Rīga Stradiņš University International Research Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences Knowledge for Use in Practice: Abstracts, 24.–26.03.2021, 515.
- 15. Kurjāne N., Prokofjeva T., Lucāne Z., Gerula N., Kriķe P., Jaunalksne I. 2020. Prevalence of antibody deficiencies in patients with primary immunodeficiencies in Latvia. 78<sup>th</sup> International Scientific Conference of the University of Latvia. In: Medicina. 2020, 56 Suppl. 1, 236.
- Kurjane, N., Lucane, Z., Jaunalksne, I., Prokofjeva, T., Gerula, N., Kriķe, P., Mihailova, I., Kenina, V. 2019. Common variable immunodeficiency in Latvia's population: clinical and immunological features. *International Rumi Pediatric Conference (IRUPEC)*, J project poster sessions, 04.–07.12.2019., 52.

## References

- Abella, E., Trigueros, M., Pradenas, E., ... Massanella, M., 2022. Efficacy of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in patients with monoclonal gammopathies: A cross sectional study. *Life Sci Alliance* 5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.26508/LSA. 202201479
- Aberumand, B., Ayoub Goulstone, W., Betschel, S., 2022. Understanding attitudes and obstacles to vaccination against COVID-19 in patients with primary immunodeficiency. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol* 18. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1186/S13223-022-00679-X
- 3. Abo-helo, N., Muhammad, E., Ghaben-amara, S., ... Cohen, S., 2021. Specific antibody response of patients with common variable immunodeficiency to BNT162b2 coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 127, 501–503. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANAI.2021.07.021
- 4. Abolhassani, H., Avcin, T., Bahceciler, N., ... Volokha, A., 2022. Care of patients with inborn errors of immunity in thirty J Project countries between 2004 and 2021. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1032358
- 5. Abyazi, M. L., Bell, K. A., Gyimesi, G., ... Maglione, P. J., 2022. Convergence of cytokine dysregulation and antibody deficiency in common variable immunodeficiency with inflammatory complications. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 149. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaci.2021.06.008
- Ainsua-Enrich, E., Pedreño-Lopez, N., Bracke, C., ... Carrillo, J., 2022. Kinetics of immune responses elicited after three mRNA COVID-19 vaccine doses in predominantly antibody-deficient individuals. iScience 25. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISCI.2022.105455
- 7. Al-Amer, R., Maneze, D., Everett, B., ... E., Salamonson, Y., 2022. COVID-19 vaccination intention in the first year of the pandemic: A systematic review. *J Clin Nurs* 31, 62–86. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/JOCN.15951
- Al-Hakim, A., Kacar, M., Savic, S., 2024. The Scope and Impact of Viral Infections in Common Variable Immunodeficiency (CVID) and CVID-like Disorders: A Literature Review. J Clin Med 13, 1717. Available from: https://doi.org/ 10.3390/JCM13061717
- 9. Ameratunga, R., Edwards, E. S. J., Lehnert, K., ... Bryant, V. L., 2023. The Rapidly Expanding Genetic Spectrum of Common Variable Immunodeficiency-Like Disorders. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice* 11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2023.01.048
- 10. Amodio, D., Ruggiero, A., Sgrulletti, ... Palma, P., 2021. Humoral and Cellular Response Following Vaccination With the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine in Patients Affected by Primary Immunodeficiencies. *Front Immunol* 12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2021.727850/FULL

- Antolí, A., Rocamora-Blanch, G., Framil, ... Solanich, X., 2022. Evaluation of Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses to the SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine in Patients With Common Variable Immunodeficiency Phenotype and Patient Receiving B-Cell Depletion Therapy. Front Immunol 13, 1876. Available from: https://doi.org/ 10.3389/FIMMU.2022.895209/BIBTEX
- 12. Apostolidis, S. A., Kakara, M., Painter, M. M., ... Bar-Or, A., 2021. Cellular and humoral immune responses following SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccination in patients with multiple sclerosis on anti-CD20 therapy. *Nat Med* 27, 1990–2001. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-021-01507-2
- Arbuckle, M. R., McClain, M. T., Rubertone, M. V., ... Harley, J. B., 2003. Development of Autoantibodies before the Clinical Onset of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. New England Journal of Medicine 349, 1526–1533. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA021933/ASSET/0175DE18-2FE7-4DAF-84DB-19 91C85B2264/ASSETS/IMAGES/LARGE/NEJMOA021933 F3.JPG
- Arroyo-Sánchez, D., Cabrera-Marante, O., Laguna-Goya, ... D., Paz-Artal, E., 2022.
   Immunogenicity of Anti-SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines in Common Variable
   Immunodeficiency. J Clin Immunol 42, 240–252. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-021-01174-5/FIGURES/4
- 15. Babaha, F., Rezaei, N., 2020. Primary Immunodeficiency Diseases in COVID-19 Pandemic: A Predisposing or Protective Factor? *Am J Med Sci* 360, 740–741. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJMS.2020.07.027
- Bagheri, Y., Moeini Shad, T., Namazi, S., ... A., Yazdani, R., 2023. B cells and T cells abnormalities in patients with selective IgA deficiency. *Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology* 19. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13223-023-00775-6
- Banjongjit, A., Thammathiwat, T., Townamchai, N., Kanjanabuch, T., 2024. SARS-CoV-2 infection associated with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated glomerulonephritis (ANCA-GN): a systematic review and two case reports. *J Nephrol* 37, 53–63. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S40620-023-01777-8
- 18. Bardosh, K., Figueiredo de, A., Gur-Arie, R., ... Baral, S., 2022. The unintended consequences of COVID-19 vaccine policy: why mandates, passports and restrictions may cause more harm than good. *BMJ Glob Health*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2022-008684
- Barmettler, S., DiGiacomo, D. V., Yang, N. J., ... Farmer, J. R., 2022. Response to Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Initial Series and Additional Dose Vaccine in Patients With Predominant Antibody Deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 10, 1622–1634. e4. Available from: https://doi. org/10. 1016/J. JAIP. 2022. 03. 017
- Barrios, Y., Franco, A., Alava-Cruz, C., ... Matheu, V., 2022. Easy approach to detect cell immunity to COVID vaccines in common variable immunodeficiency patients. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)* 50, 101–105. Available from: https://doi.org/ 10.15586/AEI.V50I3.583

- 21. Barros-Martins, J., Hammerschmidt, S. I., Cossmann, A., ... Behrens, G. M. N., 2021. Immune responses against SARS-CoV-2 variants after heterologous and homologous ChAdOx1 nCoV-19/BNT162b2 vaccination. *Nature Medicine 2021 27:9* 27, 1525–1529. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01449-9
- 22. Baumjohann, D., Fazilleau, N. 2021. Antigen-dependent multistep differentiation of T follicular helper cells and its role in SARS-CoV-2 infection and vaccination. *Eur J Immunol* 51, 1325–1333. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/EJI.202049148
- Bergman, P., Blennow, O., Hansson, ... Aleman, S., 2021. Safety and efficacy of the mRNA BNT162b2 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 in five groups of immunocompromised patients and healthy controls in a prospective open-label clinical trial. *EBioMedicine* 74. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EBIOM. 2021.103705
- 24. Bitzer, M., Gersdorff von, G., Liang, D., ... Böttinger, E. P., 2000. A mechanism of suppression of TGF–β/SMAD signaling by NF-κB/RelA. *Genes Dev* 14, 187. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.14.2.187
- Blom, M., Soomann, M., Soler-Palacín, P., ... Burg van der, M., 2024. Newborn screening for SCID and severe T lymphocytopenia in Europe. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 0. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2024.10. 018/ATTACHMENT/C616EAD9-D3A5-4F11-BDB8-89030FEBF615/MMC2.XLSX
- Bonilla, F. A., Barlan, I., Chapel, H., ...Warnatz, K., 2016. International Consensus Document (ICON): Common Variable Immunodeficiency Disorders. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 4, 38–59. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAIP.2015.07.025
- 27. Boppana, S., Qin, K., Files, K., ... Goepfert, P. A., 2021. SARS-CoV-2-specific circulating T follicular helper cells correlate with neutralizing antibodies and increase during early convalescence. *PLoS Pathog* 17. Available from: https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.ppat.1009761
- 28. Bousfiha, A., Jeddane, L., Picard, C., ... Tangye, S. G., 2020. Human Inborn Errors of Immunity: 2019 Update of the IUIS Phenotypical Classification. *J Clin Immunol* 40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-020-00758-x
- 29. Catriona, C., Paolo, P., 2022. SARS-CoV-2 induced post-translational protein modifications: A trigger for developing autoimmune diabetes? *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3508
- Chan, H. F., Brumpton, M., Macintyre, A., ... Torgler, B., 2020. How confidence in health care systems affects mobility and compliance during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLoS One* 15, e0240644. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE. 0240644
- 31. Chapel, H., Lucas, M., Lee, M., ... Hammarstrom, L., 2008. Common variable immunodeficiency disorders: division into distinct clinical phenotypes. *Blood* 112, 277–286. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2007-11-124545

- Costagliola, G., Consolini, R., 2023. Primary Immunodeficiencies: Pathogenetic Advances, Diagnostic and Management Challenges. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2023, Vol. 12, Page 4651 12, 4651. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/JCM 12144651
- 33. Dan, J. M., Mateus, J., Kato, Y., ... Crotty, S., 2021. Immunological memory to SARS-CoV-2 assessed for up to 8 months after infection. *Science* 371. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABF4063
- 34. Delmonte, O. M., Bergerson, J. R. E., Burbelo, P. D., ... Freeman, A. F., 2021. Antibody responses to the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine in individuals with various inborn errors of immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 148, 1192. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/JACI.2021.08.016
- 35. Desjardins, M., Béland, M., Dembele, M., ... Mazer, B. D., 2018. Modulation of the Interleukin-21 Pathway with Interleukin-4 Distinguishes Common Variable Immunodeficiency Patients with More Non-infectious Clinical Complications. *J Clin Immunol* 38, 45–55. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-017-0452-0
- 36. Diao, B., Wang, C., Tan, Y., ... Chen, Y., 2020. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Front Immunol* 11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00827
- 37. Dieli-Crimi, R., Martínez-Gallo, M., Franco-Jarava, C., ... Colobran, R., 2018. Th1-skewed profile and excessive production of proinflammatory cytokines in a NFKB1-deficient patient with CVID and severe gastrointestinal manifestations. *Clinical Immunology* 195, 49–58. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLIM. 2018.07.015
- 38. Durkee-Shock, J. R., Keller, M. D., 2022. Immunizing the imperfect immune system: Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination in patients with inborn errors of immunity. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 129, 562-571. e1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANAI.2022.06.009
- 39. Edwards, E. S. J., Bosco, J. J., Aui, P. M., ... Zelm van, M. C., 2019. Predominantly Antibody-Deficient Patients With Non-infectious Complications Have Reduced Naive B, Treg, Th17, and Tfh17 Cells. *Front Immunol* 10. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019.02593
- Erra, L., Uriarte, I., Colado, A., ... Almejun, M. B., 2022. COVID-19 Vaccination Responses with Different Vaccine Platforms in Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity. *J Clin Immunol* 2019, 271–285. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10875-022-01382-7
- 41. ESID (European Society for Immunodeficiencies). ESID COVID-19 Statement March 2022. 2022. Available from: https://esid.org/COVID-19/ESID-COVID-19-Statement-March-2022 [viewed 28.04.2022.]

- 42. Farcet, M. R., Karbiener, M., Knotzer, S., ... Kreil, T. R., 2022. Omicron Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Neutralization by Immunoglobulin Preparations Manufactured From Plasma Collected in the United States and Europe. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 226. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiac358
- 43. Fernandes, N., Costa, Daniela, Costa, Diogo, ... Arantes, J., 2021. Predicting covid-19 vaccination intention: The determinants of vaccine hesitancy. *Vaccines* (*Basel*) 9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9101161
- 44. Fernando, S. L., Jang, H. S. I., Li, J., 2021. The Immune Dysregulation of Common Variable Immunodeficiency Disorders. *Immunol Lett*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2020.12.002
- 45. Ferreira-Gomes, M., Kruglov, A., Durek, P., ... Mashreghi, M. F., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 in severe COVID-19 induces a TGF-β-dominated chronic immune response that does not target itself. *Nat Commun* 12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22210-3
- 46. Fevang, B., 2023. Treatment of inflammatory complications in common variable immunodeficiency (CVID): current concepts and future perspectives. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/1744666X.2023.2198208
- Friedmann, D., Goldacker, S., Peter, H. H., Warnatz, K., 2020. Preserved Cellular Immunity Upon Influenza Vaccination in Most Patients with Common Variable Immunodeficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 8, 2332-2340. e5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAIP.2020.04.019
- 48. Gatulytė, I., Verdiņa, V., Vārpiņa, Z., Lublóy, Á., 2022. Level of health literacy in Latvia and Lithuania: a population-based study. *Archives of Public Health* 80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-022-00886-3
- 49. Gendler, Y., Ofri, L., 2021. Investigating the influence of vaccine literacy, vaccine perception and vaccine hesitancy on Israeli parents' acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccine for their children: A cross-sectional study. *Vaccines (Basel)* 9, 1391. Available from: https://doi. org/10.3390/VACCINES9121391/S1
- 50. Geoghegan, S., O'Callaghan, K. P., Offit, P. A., 2020. Vaccine Safety: Myths and Misinformation. *Front Microbiol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb. 2020.00372
- 51. Gernez, Y., Murugesan, K., Cortales, C. R., ... Pham, M. N., 2022. Immunogenicity of a third COVID-19 messenger RNA vaccine dose in primary immunodeficiency disorder patients with functional B-cell defects. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice* 10, 1385-1388. e2. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2022.02.030
- 52. Goda, V., Kriván, G., Kulcsár, A., ... Vályi-Nagy, I., 2022. Specific Antibody and the T-Cell Response Elicited by BNT162b2 Boosting After Two ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 in Common Variable Immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.907125

- 53. Göschl, L., Mrak, D., Grabmeier-Pfistershammer, K., ... Vossen, M. G., 2022. Reactogenicity and immunogenicity of the second COVID-19 vaccination in patients with inborn errors of immunity or mannan-binding lectin deficiency. *Front Immunol* 13, 5063. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2022.974987/BIBTEX
- 54. Gupta, S., Demirdag, Y., Gupta, A. A., 2022. Members of the Regulatory Lymphocyte Club in Common Variable Immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.864307
- 55. Gupta, S., Su, H., Agrawal, S., ... Gollapudi, S., 2024. Adaptive Cellular Responses following SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination in Primary Antibody Deficiency Patients. *Pathogens* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens13060514
- Gupta, S., Su, H., Narsai, T., Agrawal, S., 2021. SARS-CoV-2-Associated T-Cell Responses in the Presence of Humoral Immunodeficiency. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 182, 195. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1159/000514193
- Hagin, D., Freund, T., Navon, ... Freund, N. T., 2021. Immunogenicity of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine in patients with inborn errors of immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 148, 739. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI. 2021.05.029
- 58. Halpert, G., Shoenfeld, Y., 2020. SARS-CoV-2, the autoimmune virus. *Autoimmun Rev*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autrev.2020.102695
- Hamidi, Seyed Hootan, Kadamboor Veethil, S., Hamidi, Seyedeh Harir, 2021. Role of pirfenidone in TGF-β pathways and other inflammatory pathways in acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection: a theoretical perspective. *Pharmacological Reports* 73, 712. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S43440-021-00255-X
- Hanitsch, L., Baumann, U., Boztug, K., ... Bernuth von, H., 2020. Treatment and management of primary antibody deficiency: German interdisciplinary evidence-based consensus guideline. *Eur J Immunol* 50, 1432–1446. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/EJI.202048713
- Ho, H. E., Cunningham-Rundles, C., 2020. Non-infectious Complications of Common Variable Immunodeficiency: Updated Clinical Spectrum, Sequelae, and Insights to Pathogenesis. Front Immunol 11. Available from: https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2020.00149
- 62. Hong, R., Agrawal, S., Gollapudi, S., Gupta, S., 2010. Impaired pneumovax-23-induced monocyte-derived cytokine production in patients with common variable immunodeficiency. *J Clin Immunol* 30, 435–441. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-010-9371-Z
- 63. Hou, X., Zaks, T., Langer, R., Dong, Y., 2021. Lipid nanoparticles for mRNA delivery. *Nat Rev Mater*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-021-00358-0

- 64. Jin, D. K., Nesbitt, D. J., Yang, J., ... Luchsinger, L. L., 2021. Seroprevalence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in a cohort of New York City metro blood donors using multiple SARS-CoV-2 serological assays: Implications for controlling the epidemic and "Reopening." *PLoS One* 16. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0250319
- 65. Jun, J., Zain, A., Chen, Y., Kim, S. H., 2022. Adverse Mentions, Negative Sentiment, and Emotions in COVID-19 Vaccine Tweets and Their Association with Vaccination Uptake: Global Comparison of 192 Countries. *Vaccines (Basel)* 10. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10050735
- 66. Kamar, N., Abravanel, F., Marion, O., ... Izopet, J., 2021. Assessment of 4 Doses of SARS-CoV-2 Messenger RNA-Based Vaccine in Recipients of a Solid Organ Transplant. *JAMA Netw Open*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanet workopen.2021.36030
- 67. Kasperkiewicz, M., Woodley, D. T., 2023. COVID-19 and autoimmune bullous diseases: Lessons learned.
- 68. Kim, Seoyong, Kim, Sunhee, 2020. Searching for General Model of Conspiracy Theories and Its Implication for Public Health Policy: Analysis of the Impacts of Political, Psychological, Structural Factors on Conspiracy Beliefs about the COVID-19 Pandemic. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2021, Vol. 18, Page 266 18, 266. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH18010266
- 69. Kouranloo, K., Dey, M., Elwell, H., Nune, A., 2023. A systematic review of the incidence, management and prognosis of new-onset autoimmune connective tissue diseases after COVID-19. *Rheumatol Int* 43, 1221–1243. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S00296-023-05283-9
- 70. Laxminarayana, D., 2022. Molecular insights into onset of autoimmunity in SARS-CoV-2 infected patients. *Rheumatology and Autoimmunity* 2, 198–202. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/rai2.12056
- 71. Le Saos-Patrinos, C., Loizon, S., Blanco, ... J. F., Duluc, D., 2020. Functions of Tfh Cells in Common Variable Immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* 11, 6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2020.00006/BIBTEX
- Leeuwen van, L. P. M., GeurtsvanKessel, C. H., Ellerbroek, P. M., ... Dalm, V. A. S. H., 2022. Immunogenicity of the mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccine in adult patients with inborn errors of immunity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 149, 1949–1957. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2022.04.002
- Leeuwen van, L. P. M., Grobben, M., Geurts van Kessel, ... Nierkens, S., 2023.
   Immune Responses 6 Months After mRNA-1273 COVID-19 Vaccination and the Effect of a Third Vaccination in Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity. *J Clin Immunol* 1104–1117. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-023-01514-7

- Li, Z., Xiang, T., Liang, B., Deng, H., ... Liu, J., 2021. Characterization of SARS-CoV-2-Specific Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses Induced by Inactivated COVID-19 Vaccines in a Real-World Setting. Front Immunol 12, 5559. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2021.802858/BIBTEX
- 75. Liang, S., Zheng, R., Zuo, B., ... Yan, B., 2024. SMAD7 expression in CAR-T cells improves persistence and safety for solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol* 21, 213–226. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/S41423-023-01120-Y,
- Liebers, N., Speer, C., Benning, L., ... Dietrich, S., 2022. Humoral and cellular responses after COVID-19 vaccination in anti-CD20-treated lymphoma patients. *Blood* 139, 142–147. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD.2021013445
- 77. Lielsvagere-Endele, S., Kolesnikova, J., Puzanova, ... Millere, I., 2022. Motivators and barriers to COVID-19 vaccination of healthcare workers in Latvia. *Front Psychol* 13, 903506. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2022.903506/BIBTEX
- 78. Liénart, S., Merceron, R., Vanderaa, C., ... Lucas, S., 2018. Structural basis of latent TGF-β1 presentation and activation by GARP on human regulatory T cells. *Science* 362, 952–956. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAU2909
- Lin, F. J., Doss, A. M. A., Davis-Adams, H. G., ... Laidlaw, B. J., 2022. SARS-CoV-2 booster vaccination rescues attenuated IgG1 memory B cell response in primary antibody deficiency patients. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1033770
- Lougaris, V., Pession, A., Baronio, M., ... Plebani, A., 2020. The Italian Registry for Primary Immunodeficiencies (Italian Primary Immunodeficiency Network; IPINet): Twenty Years of Experience (1999–2019). *J Clin Immunol* 40, 1026. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-020-00844-0
- 81. LR Veselības Ministrija. Paplašina Jaundimušo skrīningu. 2023. Available from: https://www.vm.gov.lv/lv/jaunums/paplasina-jaundzimuso-skriningu [viewed 28.08.2024.]
- 82. Lucane, Z., Kursite, M., Sablinskis, K., ... Kurjane, N., 2023a. COVID-19 Vaccination Coverage and Factors Influencing Vaccine Hesitancy among Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvia: A Mixed-Methods Study. *Vaccines (Basel)* 11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/VACCINES11111637
- Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Gersone, G, ... Kurjane, N., 2023b. Cytokine Response Following SARS-CoV-2 Antigen Stimulation in Patients with Predominantly Antibody Deficiencies. *Viruses* 15. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/ V15051146
- 84. Lucane, Z., Slisere, B., Ozola, L., ... Kurjane, N., 2023c. Long-Term Immunological Memory of SARS-CoV-2 Is Present in Patients with Primary Antibody Deficiencies for up to a Year after Vaccination.
- Ludviksson, B. R., Sigurdardottir, S. T., Johannsson, J. H., ... Hardarson, T. O., 2014.
   Epidemiology of Primary Immunodeficiency in Iceland. *Journal of Clinical Immunology 2014 35:1* 35, 75–79. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-014-0107-3

- 86. Lyons-Weiler, J., 2020. Pathogenic priming likely contributes to serious and critical illness and mortality in COVID-19 via autoimmunity. *J Transl Autoimmun* 3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtauto.2020.100051
- 87. Maciuszek, J., Polak, M., Stasiuk, K., Rosiński, J., 2023. Declared Intention to Vaccinate against COVID-19 and Actual Vaccination—The Role of Trust in Science, Conspiratorial Thinking and Religiosity. *Vaccines (Basel)* 11, 1–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines11020262
- 88. Martelius, T., Seppänen, M. R. J., Warnatz, K., 2023. Editorial: Updates on the pathogenesis of common variable immunodeficiency (CVID). *Front Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1130418
- 89. Milito, C., Cinetto, F., Garzi, G., ... Firinu, D., 2023. Safety of mRNA COVID-19 Vaccines in Patients with Inborn Errors of Immunity: an Italian Multicentric Study. *J Clin Immunol* 43, 299–307. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-022-01402-6
- 90. Milito, C., Soccodato, V., Collalti G., ... Cinetto, F., 2021. Vaccination in pads. *Vaccines (Basel)* 9, 626. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9060626
- 91. Mizera, D., Dziedzic, R., Drynda, A., ... Bazan-Socha, S., 2023. Cellular immune response to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with primary antibody deficiencies. *Front Immunol* 14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1275892
- 92. Moss, P., 2022. The T cell immune response against SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-021-01122-w
- 93. Murray, C. E., O'Brien, C., Alamin, S., ... Conlon, N., 2023. Cellular and humoral immunogenicity of the COVID-19 vaccine and COVID-19 disease severity in individuals with immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* 14, 1–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1131604
- 94. Nabizadeh, F., Balabandian, M., Sodeifian, F., ... Naser Moghadasi, A., 2022. Autoimmune encephalitis associated with COVID-19: A systematic review. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* 62. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J. MSARD.2022.103795
- 95. Nadesalingam, A., Cantoni, D., Aguinam, E. T., ... Heeney, J. L., 2023. Vaccination and protective immunity to SARS-CoV-2 omicron variants in people with immunodeficiencies. *Lancet Microbe* 4, e58–e59. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(22)00297-X
- 96. Nielsen, B. U., Drabe, C. H., Barnkob, M. B., ... Rasmussen, L. D., 2022. Antibody response following the third and fourth SARS-CoV-2 vaccine dose in individuals with common variable immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.934476
- 97. Oyaert, M., Scheerder de, M. A., Herrewege van, ... Padalko, E., 2022. Evaluation of Humoral and Cellular Responses in SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccinated Immunocompromised Patients. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.858399

- 98. Padron, G. T., Hernandez-Trujillo, V. P., 2023. Autoimmunity in Primary Immunodeficiencies (PID). *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-022-08942-0
- 99. Papa, R., Rusmini, M., Schena, F., ... Volpi, S., 2021. Type I interferon activation in RAS-associated autoimmune leukoproliferative disease (RALD). *Clin Immunol* 231. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLIM.2021.108837
- 100. Paris, R., 2023. SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Response to COVID-19 Vaccination in Patients With Primary Immunodeficiencies. *J Infect Dis* 228, S24–S33. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/INFDIS/JIAD145
- 101. Pergent, M., Haerynck, F., Hoste, L., Gardulf, A., 2023. COVID-19 vaccination in patients with primary immunodeficiencies: an international survey on patient vaccine hesitancy and self-reported adverse events. *Front Immunol* 14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1166198
- 102. Pham, M. N., Murugesan, K., Banaei, N., ... Gernez, Y., 2022. Immunogenicity and tolerability of COVID-19 messenger RNA vaccines in primary immunodeficiency patients with functional B-cell defects. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 149, 907-911. e3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2021.11.022
- 103. Piazza di, A. T., Graham, B. S., Ruckwardt, T. J., 2021. T cell immunity to SARS-CoV-2 following natural infection and vaccination. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 538. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.10.060
- 104. Pino-Molina del, L., López-Granados, E., Lecrevisse, Q., ... Orfao, A., the EuroFlow PID Consortium, 2021. Dissection of the Pre-Germinal Center B-Cell Maturation Pathway in Common Variable Immunodeficiency Based on Standardized Flow Cytometric EuroFlow Tools. Front Immunol 11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2020.603972/FULL
- 105. Poli, M. C., Aksentijevich, I., Bousfiha, A. A., ... Tangye, S. G., 2025. Human inborn errors of immunity: 2024 update on the classification from the International Union of Immunological Societies Expert Committee. *Journal of Human Immunity* 1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.70962/JHI.20250003
- 106. Polito, R., Nigro, E., Pecoraro, A., ... Daniele, A., 2019. Adiponectin Receptors and Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Are Modulated in Common Variable Immunodeficiency Patients: Correlation With Ig Replacement Therapy. Front Immunol 10. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019.02812
- 107. Ponsford, M. J., Evans, K., Carne, ... El-Shanawany, T., 2022. COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake and Efficacy in a National Immunodeficiency Cohort. *J Clin Immunol* 42, 728–731. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-022-01223-7/FIGURES/1
- 108. Poto, R., Pecoraro, A., Ferrara, A. L., ... Varricchi, G., 2023. Cytokine dysregulation despite immunoglobulin replacement therapy in common variable immunodeficiency (CVID). Front Immunol 14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2023. 1257398

- 109. Pozzetto, B., Legros, V., Djebali, S., ... Trouillet-Assant, S., 2021. Immunogenicity and efficacy of heterologous ChAdOx1–BNT162b2 vaccination. *Nature 2021 600:7890* 600, 701–706. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04120-y
- 110. Prati, G., 2020. Intention to receive a vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 in Italy and its association with trust, worry and beliefs about the origin of the virus. *Health Educ Res* 35, 505–511. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/HER/CYAA043
- 111. Prokofjeva, T., Lucane, Z., Kovalova, Z., Kurjane, N., 2022. Inborn Errors of Immunity in Latvia: Analysis of Data from 1994 to 2020. *J Clin Immunol* 42, 876–879. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-022-01229-1
- 112. Prooijen van, J. W., 2019. An Existential Threat Model of Conspiracy Theories. https://doi. org/10. 1027/1016-9040/a000381 25, 16–25. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/A000381
- 113. Pulvirenti, F., Salinas, A. F., Milito, C., ... Quinti, I., 2021. B cell response induced by SARS-CoV-2 infection is boosted by the BNT162b2 vaccine in primary antibody deficiencies. *Cells* 10. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10112915
- 114. Quinti, I., Locatelli, F., Carsetti, R., 2022. The Immune Response to SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination: Insights Learned From Adult Patients With Common Variable Immune Deficiency. *Front Immunol* 12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 815404
- 115. Ramírez-Martínez, G., Jiménez-Álvarez, L. A., Cruz-Lagunas, A., ... Zúñiga, J., 2022. Possible Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases and TGF-β in COVID-19 Severity and Sequelae. *Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research* 42, 352. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1089/JIR.2021.0222
- 116. Rasheed, M. A. U., Latner, D. R., Aubert, R. D., ... Ahmed, R., 2013. Interleukin-21 Is a Critical Cytokine for the Generation of Virus-Specific Long-Lived Plasma Cells. *J Virol* 87, 7737. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00063-13
- 117. Rezaei, N., Aghamohammadi, A., Mahmoudi, Mahdi, Shakiba, Y., ... Amirzargar, A. A., 2010. Association of IL-4 and IL-10 gene promoter polymorphisms with common variable immunodeficiency. *Immunobiology* 215, 81–87. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMBIO.2009.01.011
- 118. Ricci, S., Guarnieri, V., Capitanini... Azzari, C., 2024. Expanded Newborn Screening for Inborn Errors of Immunity: The Experience of Tuscany. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 12, 1622-1630. e4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAIP.2024.04.011
- 119. Rodríguez-Ubreva, J., Calafell-Segura, J., Calvillo, ... Ballestar, E., 2024. COVID-19 progression and convalescence in common variable immunodeficiency patients show dysregulated adaptive immune responses and persistent type I interferon and inflammasome activation. *Nat Commun* 15. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-024-54732-X

- 120. Romberg, N., Le Coz, C., Glauzy, S., ... Meffre, E., 2019. Patients with common variable immunodeficiency with autoimmune cytopenias exhibit hyperplastic yet inefficient germinal center responses. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 143. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2018.06.012
- 121. Romero, C., Díez, J. M., Gajardo, R., 2022. Anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in healthy donor plasma pools and IVIG products—an update. *Lancet Infect Dis*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00755-6
- 122. Rosenthal, J. A., Papa, M. P., Sanz, M., ... Ein, D., 2023. Antibody and T-cell responses to coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination in common variable immunodeficiency and specific antibody deficiency. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology* 130. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2023.01.025
- 123. Rughiniş, C., Vulpe, S. N., Flaherty, M. G., Vasile, S., 2022. Vaccination, life expectancy, and trust: patterns of COVID-19 and measles vaccination rates around the world. *Public Health* 210, 114–122. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J. PUHE.2022.06.027
- 124. Ryan, P., Redenbaugh, V., McGucken, J., ... Edgar, J. D. M., 2022. Inborn Errors of Immunity on the Island of Ireland a Cross-Jurisdictional UKPID/ESID Registry Report. *J Clin Immunol* 42. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-022-01274-w
- 125. Sahin, U., Muik, A., Vogler, I., ... Türeci, Ö., 2021. BNT162b2 vaccine induces neutralizing antibodies and poly-specific T cells in humans. *Nature 2021 595:7868* 595, 572–577. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03653-6
- 126. Salinas, A. F., Mortari, E. P., Terreri, S., ... Quinti, I., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Induced Atypical Immune Responses in Antibody Defects: Everybody Does their Best. *J Clin Immunol* 41, 1709–1722. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-021-01133-0
- 127. Salzer, E., Kansu, A., Sic, H., ... Boztug, K., 2014. Early-onset inflammatory bowel disease and common variable immunodeficiency-like disease caused by IL-21 deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 133. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J. JACI.2014.02.034
- 128. Sauerwein, K. M. T., Geier, C. B., Stemberger, R. F., ... Wolf, H. M., 2022. Antigen-Specific CD4+ T-Cell Activation in Primary Antibody Deficiency After BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccination. Front Immunol 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.827048
- 129. Schouwenburg van, P., Unger, S., Payne, K. J., ... Warnatz, K., 2022. Deciphering imprints of impaired memory B-cell maturation in germinal centers of three patients with common variable immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.959002

- 130. Schultheiß, C., Paschold, L., Willscher, E., ... Binder, M., 2021. Maturation trajectories and transcriptional landscape of plasmablasts and autoreactive B cells in COVID-19. *iScience* 24. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2021.103325
- 131. Seidel, M. G., Kindle, G., Gathmann, B., ... Zhang, S. Y., 2019. The European Society for Immunodeficiencies (ESID) Registry Working Definitions for the Clinical Diagnosis of Inborn Errors of Immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 7, 1763–1770. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAIP.2019.02.004
- 132. Sekine, T., Perez-Potti, A., Rivera-Ballesteros, O., ... Buggert, M., 2020. Robust T Cell Immunity in Convalescent Individuals with Asymptomatic or Mild COVID-19. *Cell* 183, 158-168. e14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2020.08. 017/ATTACHMENT/257742BE-0E7E-4069-9681-368C87E6B550/MMC3.PDF
- 133. Sepahi, A., Ho, H. en, Vyas, P., ... Cunningham-Rundles, C., 2024. ICOS agonist vopratelimab modulates follicular helper T cells and improves B cell function in common variable immunodeficiency. *Clinical Immunology* 264, 110217. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLIM.2024.110217
- 134. Sette, A., Crotty, S., 2021. Adaptive immunity to SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. *Cell* 184, 861–880. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2021.01.007
- 135. Shields, A. M., Faustini, S. E., Hill, H. J., ... Burns, S. O., 2022a. Increased Seroprevalence and Improved Antibody Responses Following Third Primary SARS-CoV-2 Immunisation: An Update From the COV-AD Study. *Front Immunol* 13, 2704. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2022.912571/BIBTEX
- 136. Shields, A. M., Faustini, S. E., Hill, H. J., ... Walder, S., 2022b. SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Responses in Individuals with Antibody Deficiency: Findings from the COV-AD Study. *J Clin Immunol* 42, 923–934. Available from: https://doi.org/10. 1007/S10875-022-01231-7
- 137. Shields, A. M., Tadros, S., Al-Hakim, A., Richter, A. G., 2022c. Impact of vaccination on hospitalization and mortality from COVID-19 in patients with primary and secondary immunodeficiency: The United Kingdom experience. *Front Immunol* 13, 5142. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2022.984376/BIBTEX
- 138. Shin, J. J., Par-Young, J., Unlu, S., ... Kang, I., 2022. Defining Clinical and Immunological Predictors of Poor Immune Responses to COVID-19 mRNA Vaccines in Patients with Primary Antibody Deficiency. *J Clin Immunol* 42, 1137–1150. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-022-01296-4/TABLES/2
- 139. Shoenfeld, Y., 2020. Corona (COVID-19) time musings: Our involvement in COVID-19 pathogenesis, diagnosis, treatment and vaccine planning. *Autoimmun Rev*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102538
- 140. Shoja Doost, J., Fazel, F., Boodhoo, N., Sharif, S., 2024. mRNA Vaccination: An Outlook on Innate Sensing and Adaptive Immune Responses. *Viruses* 16. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/V16091404

- 141. Silver, D., Kim, Y., McNeill, E., ... Abramson, D., 2022. Association between COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and trust in the medical profession and public health officials. *Prev Med (Baltim)* 164. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YPMED. 2022.107311
- 142. Simione, L., Vagni, M., Gnagnarella, C., ... Pajardi, D., 2021. Mistrust and Beliefs in Conspiracy Theories Differently Mediate the Effects of Psychological Factors on Propensity for COVID-19 Vaccine. *Front Psychol* 12, 683684. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2021.683684
- 143. Singh, K., Chang, C., Gershwin, M. E., 2014. IgA deficiency and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev* 13, 163–177. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2013. 10.005
- 144. Sleen van, Y., Geest van der, K. S. M., Huckriede, A. L. W., ... Brouwer, E., 2023. Effect of DMARDs on the immunogenicity of vaccines. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 19, 560–575. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/S41584-023-00992-8
- 145. Squire, J., Joshi, A., 2021. Seroconversion after coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination in patients with immune deficiency. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 127, 383. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANAI.2021.05.015
- 146. Stathi, D., Triantafyllidis, K. K., Zafeiri, M., ... Kechagias, K. S., 2023. COVID-19 induced type 1 diabetes: A systematic review of case reports and series. *J Int Med Res* 51. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/03000605231210403
- 147. Steiner, S., Schwarz, T., Corman, V. M., ... Hanitsch, L. G., 2023. Impaired B Cell Recall Memory and Reduced Antibody Avidity but Robust T Cell Response in CVID Patients After COVID-19 Vaccination. *J Clin Immunol* 43. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-023-01468-w
- 148. Strainic, M. G., Shevach, E. M., An, F., ... Medof, M. E., 2013. Absence of signaling into CD4 + cells via C3aR and C5aR enables autoinductive TGF-β1 signaling and induction of Foxp3 + regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2499
- 149. Strohmeier, V., Andrieux, G., Unger, S., ... Warnatz, K., 2023. Interferon-Driven Immune Dysregulation in Common Variable Immunodeficiency—Associated Villous Atrophy and Norovirus Infection. *J Clin Immunol* 43. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-022-01379-2
- 150. Šuriņa, S., Martinsone, K., Perepjolkina, V., ... Rancans, E., 2021. Factors Related to COVID-19 Preventive Behaviors: A Structural Equation Model. *Front Psychol* 12, 676521. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYG.2021.676521
- 151. Šuriņa, S., Mārtinsone, K., Upesleja, G., Perepjolkina, V., 2022. Factors associated with COVID-19 vaccination behaviour in Latvian population: cross-sectional study. Health Psychol Behav Med 10, 514. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2022.2085108

- 152. Tan, A. T., Linster, M., Tan, C. W., ... Bertoletti, A., 2021. Early induction of functional SARS-CoV-2-specific T cells associates with rapid viral clearance and mild disease in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Rep* 34. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108728
- 153. Tandon, M., DiGiacomo, D. V., Zhou, B., ... Farmer, J. R., 2023. Response to SARS-CoV-2 initial series and additional dose vaccine in pediatric patients with predominantly antibody deficiency. *Front Immunol* 14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2023.1217718
- 154. Tangye, S. G., Al-Herz, W., Bousfiha, A., ... Meyts, I., 2022. Human Inborn Errors of Immunity: 2022 Update on the Classification from the International Union of Immunological Societies Expert Committee. *J Clin Immunol* 42. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10875-022-01289-3
- 155. Taraldsrud, E., Fevang, B., Jørgensen, S. F., ... Olweus, J., 2017. Defective IL-4 signaling in T cells defines severe common variable immunodeficiency. *J Autoimmun* 81, 110–119. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAUT.2017.04.004
- 156. Thakar, M. S., Logan, B. R., Puck, J. M., ... Notarangelo, L. D., 2023. Measuring the effect of newborn screening on survival after haematopoietic cell transplantation for severe combined immunodeficiency: a 36-year longitudinal study from the Primary Immune Deficiency Treatment Consortium. *Lancet* 402, 129–140. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00731-6
- 157. Troelnikov, A., Armour, B., Putty, T., ... Wang, J. J., 2023. Immunoglobulin repertoire restriction characterizes the serological responses of patients with predominantly antibody deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 152, 290-301. e7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2023.02.033
- 158. Ueno, H., 2016. Human Circulating T Follicular Helper Cell Subsets in Health and Disease. *J Clin Immunol* 36 Suppl 1, 34–39. Available from: https://doi.org/10. 1007/S10875-016-0268-3
- 159. Uscinski, J. E., Enders, A. M., Klofstad, C., ... K., Murthi, M., 2020. Why do people believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories? *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review* 1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37016/MR-2020-015
- 160. Varzaneh, F. N., Keller, B., Unger, S., ... Rezaei, N., 2014. Cytokines in common variable immunodeficiency as signs of immune dysregulation and potential therapeutic targets A review of the current knowledge. *J Clin Immunol*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-014-0053-0
- 161. Volk, A., Covini-Souris, C., Kuehnel, D., ... Schmidt, T., 2022. SARS-CoV-2 Neutralization in Convalescent Plasma and Commercial Lots of Plasma-Derived Immunoglobulin. *BioDrugs* 36. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40259-021-00511-9
- 162. Wehr, C., Kivioja, T., Schmitt, C., ... Warnatz, K., 2008. The EUROclass trial: defining subgroups in common variable immunodeficiency. *Blood* 111, 77–85. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2007-06-091744

- 163. Więsik-Szewczyk, E., Ziętkiewicz, M., Będzichowska, A., ... Jahnz-Różyk, K., 2022. Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination uptake and hesitancy among Polish patients with inborn errors of immunity, autoinflammatory syndromes, and rheumatic diseases: A multicenter survey. Front Immunol 13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1010899
- 164. Wolf de, S., Laracy, J. C., Perales, M.A., ... Vardhana, S., 2022. SARS-CoV-2 in immunocompromised individuals. *Immunity* 55, 1779–1798. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2022.09.006
- 165. Xu, A., Liu, Y., Chen, W., ... Zheng, S. G., 2016. TGF-β-Induced Regulatory T Cells Directly Suppress B Cell Responses through a Noncytotoxic Mechanism. *The Journal of Immunology* 196. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1501740
- 166. Yan, T., Tan, Y., Deng, G., ... Chen, Q., 2022. TGF-β induces GBM mesenchymal transition through upregulation of CLDN4 and nuclear translocation to activate TNF-α/NF-κB signal pathway. *Cell Death & Disease 2022 13:4* 13, 1–11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-04788-8
- 167. Yang, R., Avery, D. T., Jackson, K. J. L., ... Tangye, S. G., 2022. Human T-bet governs the generation of a distinct subset of CD11chighCD21low B cells. *Sci Immunol* 7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.abq3277
- 168. Yazdani, R., Abolhassani, H., Kiaee, F., ... Aghamohammadi, A., 2019. Comparison of Common Monogenic Defects in a Large Predominantly Antibody Deficiency Cohort. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 7, 864-878. e9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAIP.2018.09.004
- 169. Yazdani, R., Azizi, G., Abolhassani, H., Aghamohammadi, A., 2017. Selective IgA Deficiency: Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, Clinical Phenotype, Diagnosis, Prognosis and Management. *Scand J Immunol* 85, 3–12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/SJI.12499
- 170. Yusuf, I., Kageyama, R., Monticelli, L... Crotty, S., 2010. Germinal center T follicular helper cell IL-4 production is dependent on signaling lymphocytic activation molecule receptor (CD150). *J Immunol* 185, 190–202. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0903505
- 171. Zhang, A. M., Elmoursi, A., DiGiacomo, D. V., ... Barmettler, S., 2024. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) vaccine response in adults with predominantly antibody deficiency. *The journal of allergy and clinical immunology. Global* 3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACIG.2024.100234
- 172. Zhang, Y., Xiao, M., Zhang, Shulan, ... Zhang, Shuyang, 2020. Coagulopathy and Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Patients with Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine* 382. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc2007575
- 173. Zhou, P., Yang, X. Lou, ... Shi, Z. L., 2020. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature* 579, 270–273. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/S41586-020-2012-7

174. Zimmerman, O., Altman Doss, A. M., Kaplonek, P., ... Diamond, M. S., 2022. mRNA vaccine boosting enhances antibody responses against SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in individuals with antibody deficiency syndromes. *Cell Rep Med* 3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xcrm.2022.100653

## Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my scientific supervisor, Professor Natalja Kurjāne, for her invaluable support, insightful guidance, and unwavering patience throughout the research process. Your knowledge and inspiration have been essential to the completion of this work. I am also sincerely grateful to my scientific advisor, Linda Gailīte, for her thoughtful insights and contributions.

My heartfelt thanks go to the Joint Laboratory of Pauls Stradiņš Clinical University Hospital, especially to Baiba Šlisere, for her significant contribution to the development of this study and the execution of laboratory analyses, as well as to the laboratory head, Dagnija Straupmane, and technicians Elvira Hagina and Jelena Serova for their support and assistance.

I would also like to thank the team of the Molecular Genetics Research Laboratory at Rīga Stradiņš University – in particular, Inga Ķempe, Dmitrijs Rots, and Inga Nartiša – for their responsiveness, advice, and involvement in the implementation of this project.

Special thanks go to the Department of Physiology at Rīga Stradiņš University, especially Gita Gersone and Pēteris Tretjakovs, for their support in conducting cytokine analyses.

I am also grateful to lecturer and researcher Mirdza Kursīte from the Institute of Public Health at Rīga Stradiņš University for her responsiveness and invaluable support in the qualitative part of this study.

My sincere thanks to the patients and their parents for their participation and trust, as well as to the control group members.

I gratefully acknowledge the funding provided by Rīga Stradiņš University and the European Social Fund, which supports the Fundamental and Applied Research Projects of the Latvian Council of Science.

Finally, I extend my deepest appreciation to my family for their patience, understanding, and unwavering moral support.